SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT

DEC 3 1 2012

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Taylor Patterson,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

Domino's Pizza LLC, et al,

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Six, Case No. B235099
Ventura County Superior Court
Case No. 56-2009-00347668-CU-OE-SIM
Honorable Barbara Lane

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

KOLAR & ASSOCIATES

Elizabeth L. Kolar (#140073) 12241 Newport Avenue Santa Ana, CA 92705 Tel: 714-544-0041 Fax: 714-544-0051

Email: kolarlaw@sbcglobal.net

SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether a franchisor can be held vicariously liable for the acts of a franchisee's employee where the franchisor did not exercise control over the day-to-day details concerning the type of conduct giving rise to the plaintiff's claims.

INTRODUCTION

This case provides the opportunity for this Court to adopt a bright line "instrumentality of the harm" standard for vicarious liability in the franchise area, one of the fastest growing forms of business in this state. (See King, Limiting the Vicarious Liability of Franchisors for the Torts of Their Franchisees (2005) 62 Wash. & Lee L.Rev. 417, 421 (hereafter, "Limiting Vicarious Liability") [as of 2003 there were "1500 franchise companies operating in the United States through more than 320,000 retail units" which accounted for "more than 40% of all retail sales" in this country; a new franchise opens every eight minutes in the United States]; International Franchise Association, The Economic Impact of Franchised Businesses; Volume III, Results for 2007 [franchises generated economic activity totaling almost \$95 billion and created over 10 percent of private, nonfarm jobs in the state in 2007].)

Taylor Patterson claims that Domino's, as the franchisor of thousands of pizza stores across the nation, should be held responsible for sexual harassment she experienced from a fellow employee over a two-week period when she worked at a Thousand Oaks Domino's store owned and run by franchisee Sui Juris. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Domino's Pizza LLC, Domino's Pizza Franchising and Domino's Pizza, Inc. (collectively, Domino's), on the grounds that Domino's did not have the power to control day-to-day operations at Sui Juris; rather, Sui Juris, as the franchisee, had the power to hire,

fire, and train employees, and therefore Domino's could not be vicariously liable for the alleged harassment.

This Court should affirm the summary judgment and, in so doing, make clear that, before vicarious liability will be imposed on a franchisor, the franchisor must control, or have the right to control, the daily conduct or operation of the particular "instrumentality" or aspect of the franchisee's business that allegedly caused the harm. (See *Kerl v. Dennis Rasmussen, Inc.* (Wis. 2004) 682 N.W.2d 328, 340.) Such a bright line standard, focused on operational control of the type of conduct at issue in the case, will provide certainty for both franchisees and franchisors, comport with the policy underlying vicarious liability, and acknowledge the unique franchise business model and the need for franchisor control of trademark and brand-related aspects of the franchise.

At the very least, this Court should remand to the Court of Appeal to decide the remaining alternative grounds for summary judgment relied on by the trial court.

BACKGROUND: THE ROLE OF FRANCHISES

Franchises are "contractual arrangement[s] between two legally independent firms in which one firm, the franchisee, pays the other firm, the franchisor, for the right to sell the franchisor's product, the right to use its trademarks and business format in a certain location for a certain period of time, or both." (Lafontaine and Blair, *The Evolution of Franchising and Franchise Contracts: Evidence from the United States* (2009) 3 Entrepreneurial Bus.

L.J. 381, 382 (hereafter Lafontaine); see also Barkoff and Selden, *Introduction* in Fundamentals of Franchising (3d ed. 2008) p. xvii (hereafter Barkoff).)

Federal law requires the presence of three elements for a business relationship to constitute a franchise: "First, the franchisor must license a trade name and trademark that the franchisee operates under, or the franchisee must sell products or services identified by this trademark. Second, the franchisor must exert significant control over the [brand-related] operation of the franchisee or provide significant assistance to the franchisee. Third, the franchisee must pay [a certain amount] to the franchisor." (Lafontaine, supra, at pp. 382-383; see also Pitegoff, Franchise Relationship Laws: A Minefield for Franchisors (1989-1990) 45 Bus. Law. 289, 292-294.)

State franchise laws impose similar requirements. The California Department of Corporations, for example, provides that "the business in which the franchisee is granted the right to engage in must be operated under a marketing plan or system prescribed in substantial part by the franchisor," which gives rise to the requisite "appearance of some centralized management and uniform standards regarding the quality and price of the goods sold, services rendered, and other material incidents of the operation." (Cal. Dept. of Corp., Commissioner's Release 3-f: When Does an Agreement Constitute a "Franchise" (1994), at http://www.corp.ca.gov/Commissioner/Releases/3-F.asp [as of Nov. 30, 2012].) "The key idea behind the 'marketing

plan/community of interest' [or significant assistance] element is that the franchisor controls at least some dimensions of how the franchisee operates or conducts the franchised business." (Barkoff and Selden, *Introduction* in Fundamentals of Franchising (3d ed. 2008) p. xix.) The element of control is important for two reasons: the franchisor's need to maintain the value and ownership of its trademark and the need to maintain brand consistency across the franchise system.

Indeed, "[f]ranchising, in its simplest terms, is a . . . sophisticated form of trademark licensing." (See Finkelstein & Bussert, Trademark Law Fundamentals and Related Franchising Issues, in Barkoff and Selden, Fundamentals of Franchising (3d ed. 2008) at p. 4 (hereafter, "Finkelstein & Bussert").) "The Lanham Act allows the use of a trademark by someone other than the owner only when the owner exercises sufficient control over the nature and quality of the goods or services sold under the trademark by the other." (*Id.* at p. 38, emphasis added.) Thus, if a franchisor "fails to control the nature and quality of the goods or services sold by its franchisees," it may lose its ownership right in its trademark. (Id. at p. 39; see also Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 14202, subd. (i), 14230 [California similarly requires a trademark owner to use and maintain its mark in a way that does not diminish or destroy its significance]; Doll, Trademark Licensing: Quality Control (2001) 12 J. Contemp. Legal Issues 203, 205, 208 [to avoid being deemed to have abandoned its mark, a trademark owner must actively enforce quality control standards for its mark].)

Franchises provide benefits to franchisees as well. As one Court has explained:

For the franchisee, the arrangement mitigates the risk of starting a new business by enabling it to capitalize on the good will and established market associated with the franchisor's trademark or trade name. The burdens of starting and operating a business are eased considerably by the franchisor, which provides quality and operational methods and standards, and may offer management training programs to the franchisee.

(Kerl v. Dennis Rasmussen, Inc. (Wisc. 2004) 682 N.W.2d 328, 337.)

Franchises take two primary forms: (1) traditional product distribution systems (such as automobile dealerships), under which the franchised dealers "concentrate on one company's product line and to some extent identify their business with that company," and (2) business-format systems (such as fast food restaurants) which usually encompass "not only the product, service, and trademark, but the entire business format itself – a marketing strategy and plan, operating manuals and standards, quality control, and continuing two-way communication." (Lafontaine, supra, at pp. 384, 385.) "[B]usiness-format franchising has grown much more than traditional franchising in the last few decades." (Id. at p. 387.) Restaurants are one of the fastest growing forms of business-format franchises.

Today, more than one quarter of the business-format franchises in the United States are restaurants. (IHS Global Insight, The International Franchise Association Educational Foundation, The Franchise Business Economic Outlook: 2012 (2011) p. 14; see also Plaintiff's Request for Publication, p. 2 ["[m]ore and more corporations are doing business in California through franchises, and many of these franchises are restaurants" such as "Denny's, Buffalo Wild Wings, and Famous Dave's"].)

"[T]he strength of [these business-format restaurant] systems resides in their capacity to deliver a uniform product across locations and at a reasonable price. Customers know what to expect when they patronize an outlet in a successful franchise chain, and it is important for the chains to meet those expectations time after time." (Roger D. Blair & Francine Lafontaine, Understanding the Economics of Franchising and the Laws that Regulate It (2006-2007) 26 Franchise L.J. 55, 60; see also Shook & Shook, Franchising: The Business Strategy that Changed the World (1993) p. 139) This high level of consistency is only possible if franchisors maintain quality control through "meticulous operating procedures." (Shook & Shook, Franchising: The Business Strategy that Changed the World, supra, at pp. 155-156.) McDonald's, for example, provides franchisees with "[a] 750-page operations-and-training manual . . . [that] spells out all details relating to the chain's fundamentals of quality, service, cleanliness, and value." (Id.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

A. Sui Juris, owned by Daniel Poff, purchases a Domino's Pizza franchise in Thousand Oaks.

In September 2008, Sui Juris, owned by Daniel Poff, entered into a Domino's Pizza franchising agreement for a store in Thousand Oaks. (1 JA 133, 240; 2 JA 402, 403.) Before operating the store, Poff attended a mandatory "comprehensive" five-day training seminar run by Domino's that covered a range of topics concerning franchise operations, including employment related issues. (3 JA 605-606; see also 3 JA 652-653.)

The franchise agreement between Sui Juris and Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC stated that the franchisor was "in the business of franchising retail outlets specializing in the sale of pizza and other authorized food and beverage products and featuring carry-out and delivery services . . . known as 'Domino's Pizza' stores" which "conduct business under a uniform business format, with specially designed equipment, . . . and specifications for the preparation and sale of pizza and certain authorized food products (the 'Domino's system')" using "certain valuable trademarks." (2 JA 402.) The parties "agree[d] that the terms and conditions contained in [the] agreement [were] necessary to

¹ This statement of facts is presented consistent with the de novo review standard on summary judgment: we summarize "the facts from the record that was before the trial court when it ruled on that the motion," including "all the evidence set forth in the moving and opposing papers except that to which objections were made and sustained." *Yanowitz v. L'Oreal USA*, *Inc.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 1028, 1037; see also *Aleksick v. 7-Eleven*, *Inc.* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 1176, 1183-1184.

maintain [Domino's] high standards of quality and service and the uniformity of those standards at all Domino's Pizza stores." (2 JA 402.) As the franchisee, Sui Juris was solely responsible for training, supervising, and directing its employees. (1 JA 202-203, 204.)

Sui Juris agreed to comply with a variety of operating procedures prescribed by Domino's Pizza, from the manner of preparation of pizza to safety, maintenance, décor, and general appearance and demeanor of employees. (2 JA 417.) Many of these provisions were contained in a proprietary Operating Manual or Manager's Reference Guide. (2 JA 418.) The Manager's Reference Guide, which was designed to "provide greater brand consistency," set "minimum guidelines" (but not requirements) for the operation of all Domino's Pizza stores.² (2 JA 443, 451.) Sui Juris agreed to periodic inspections to ensure conformity with these and other terms of the franchise agreement. (2 JA 424.) Nonetheless, the agreement provided that "the parties to this Agreement are independent contractors and no training, assistance, or supervision which [the franchisor] may give or offer . . . shall be deemed to negate such independence" (2 JA 438.)

² The Manager's Reference Guide, which was prepared in collaboration with franchisees, also contained information in other sections besides the "Standards" section, which were "not required to [be] adhere[d] to" and were "for informational purposes only." (2 JA 444.)

B. Sui Juris hires Taylor Patterson to work at the store. Within two weeks, Patterson complains about alleged sexual harassment by one of the store's assistant managers. Poff immediately suspends and agrees to fire the assistant manager.

With the purchase of the Thousand Oaks store, Sui Juris inherited from the prior franchisee 17 or 18 existing employees, including a man who served as assistant manager, Rene Miranda. (3 JA 609.) Poff subsequently interviewed and hired Taylor Patterson as a customer service representative; she began work in November 2008. (1 JA 247, 248.) The number of hours Patterson worked each week remained roughly the same throughout her tenure as an employee of Sui Juris. (1 JA 250-252; 3 JA 641.) Within two weeks of being hired, she told Poff and the police that Miranda had sexually harassed her. (1 JA 253, 254.) She left the job voluntarily a month or so later. (See 1 JA 7, 248.)

When Patterson and her father told Poff about the purported harassment, Poff immediately said he would fire Miranda. (1 JA 253.) Poff suspended Miranda pending investigation of the alleged harassment, but never had to terminate him because Miranda failed to return to work. (3 JA 617.) Poff's response to the harassment claim was consistent with that of Domino's area leader Claudia Lee,³ who, when she learned of the alleged harassment (after Poff had already agreed

³ Domino's area leaders help franchisees grow and assist franchisees in maintaining Domino's brand. (See post, p. 15.)

to fire Miranda), purportedly told Poff "you've got to get rid of [that] guy." (3 JA 618, 621-23.) According to Poff, there were no other sexual harassment incidents at the store, either before or after this incident. (1 JA 238.)

C. Patterson files a sexual harassment complaint.

Patterson sued Sui Juris,⁴ Rene Miranda, and various Domino's corporate entities⁵ for the sexual harassment she allegedly experienced. (1 JA 1-18.) She asserted claims ranging from sexual harassment and constructive discharge to intentional infliction of emotional distress and battery. (*Ibid.*) She asserted that she reported the harassment to the Domino's corporate office as well as Poff. (1 JA 6.)⁶ She claimed she took a week off work after reporting the harassment and, when she returned, her hours were cut in retaliation for reporting the incident, and she was forced to resign. (1 JA 7.)

⁴ After the action was filed, Sui Juris filed for bankruptcy protection. (1 JA 81-84.)

⁵ Patterson named as defendants Domino's Pizza, Inc., Domino's Pizza LLC, and Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC. (1 JA 1; see also 1 JA 99.) Domino's Pizza, Inc. is the parent corporation of Domino's Pizza LLC; Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC is an indirect subsidiary of both Domino's Pizza, Inc. and Domino's Pizza, LLC. (1 JA 132.) Domino's Pizza Franchising LLC entered into the franchise agreement with Sui Juris. (1 JA 133; see also 3 JA 673.) Domino's Pizza LLC services the franchises by offering advice and guidance. (3 JA 651, 674.)

⁶ Patterson reported the alleged harassment to Domino's and Poff the same day. (See 1 JA 253-256.) Poff immediately decided to fire Miranda when Patterson brought the alleged harassment to Poff's attention. (1 JA 253; see also 4 JA 762.)

D. Domino's moves for summary judgment, arguing that Sui Juris was Patterson's employer, not Domino's, and that Domino's did not exercise substantial control over the franchisee's day-to-day hiring and firing.

Domino's filed a motion for summary judgment urging that Sui Juris was an independent contractor and there was no principal-agency relationship between Sui Juris and Domino's that could give rise to liability on Domino's part.⁷ (1 JA 109-131; see also 1 JA 136-193 [Separate statement of undisputed facts in support of motion]; 1 JA 24-32 [demurrer to the complaint on the same grounds]; 1 JA 75, 105 [affirmative defenses on the same ground].) In support of the motion, Domino's submitted the franchise agreement, the declaration of Joseph Devereaux and the deposition testimony of Daniel Poff and Taylor Patterson. (See 1 JA 132-135, 197-257.)

Devereaux, the Director of Franchise Services for Domino's Pizza LLC, highlighted the key provisions of the franchise agreement that allocated to the franchisee the sole responsibility for recruiting, hiring, training, supervising, and scheduling the hours of employees. (1 JA 133.) He also explained that "[t]he foundation of the Domino's Pizza system is its intellectual property rights. The success of the system depends on its

⁷ Alternatively, Domino's argued that summary judgment should be granted because (1) the intentional infliction of emotional distress, assault and battery claims could not stand against Domino's because the conduct was outside the scope of employment and (2) the constructive discharge claim must fail because Patterson suffered no adverse employment consequences after reporting the harassment. (See 1 JA 110-111, 125-128.)

reputation as symbolized by its trademarks and trade names and valued by its goodwill." (1 JA 134.) "If quality and service vary too greatly between the franchisee stores, goodwill and customer acceptance earned at one store will be lost at another. As franchisor, the Domino's Pizza entities must impose certain controls over the franchisee or risk not only inconsistency . . . but also . . . potentially abandonment of intellectual property rights under the Federal Trademark Law. The control exercised over independent franchisees . . . does not include supervision of the day-to-day operations of the franchisees." (1 JA 135.)

Poff's deposition testimony submitted in support of the motion established that (1) Poff, and not the Domino's corporate entities, were responsible for hiring, training, and disciplining his employees; and (2) Poff provided his own sexual harassment training to his employees, and no one from Domino's corporate did so. (1 JA 233-234, 235-236, 240-241.) Taylor Patterson testified in her deposition that (1) Poff advised her that if she had any problems with sexual harassment she was to contact him right away; (2) she and her father spoke to Poff about Miranda's alleged harassment about two weeks after she started the job, and Poff told her he was going to fire Miranda; and (3) she voluntarily decided to leave the job after being there one month, and her hours remained roughly the same with the exception of one week where she worked three days instead of four. (1 JA 247, 248, 249-253, 254, 255.)

E. Patterson opposes the motion, urging that Domino's exercised substantial control over its franchisees.

Patterson argued that summary judgment was improper because, through the franchise agreement and Manager's Reference Guide, Domino's exercised substantial control over franchisees like Sui Juris. (2 JA 258-281.) At the very least, she argued that there were triable issues of material fact about the extent of Domino's control and whether it could be vicariously liable for Sui Juris's torts. (See 2 JA 262.) She pointed to the general oversight role of Domino's area leaders and Domino's response to a previous sexual harassment complaint made directly against a franchisee rather than a franchisee's employee. (*Ibid.*)

Patterson contended that summary judgment was not proper because of various purported indicia of control by Domino's over Sui Juris employees: (1) Domino's trained Poff and provided in-store training materials for employees on store operations, store safety, driving, and pizza making; (2) Domino's area leader Claudia Lee influenced the firing of two Sui Juris employees, Miranda and another assistant manager Dave Knight; (3) according to Poff, if he did not follow Lee's suggestions concerning Miranda and Knight, he would be out of business; and (4) Domino's had the power to require franchisees to attend additional training, including sexual harassment training. (2 JA 283-364; see also 2 JA 365-391.)

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