No.: S204543

MAR - 4 2013

IN THE SUPREMECOURT Frank A. McGuire Clerk Deputy OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TAYLOR PATTERSON.,		Court of Appeal
)	No. B235099
Plaintiff and Appellant,)	
)	Ventura County
vs.)	Superior Court
)	No.: 56-2009-00347668-
DOMINO'S PIZZA LLC, et al.,)	CU-OE-SIM
)	
Defendants and Respondents.)	
)	

Appeal from a Judgment of Dismissal Honorable Barbara Lane, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

The rule that a principal is liable for the torts of its agent has been the law in California since statehood. The rule was codified in the 1872 Field Code where it remains, unchanged, today. (Civ.Code, § 2338. 15) The Fair Employment and Housing Commission has adopted this same codified rule of vicarious liability for violations of the Fair Employment and Housing Act. (2 Admn. Code, § 7286.6, subd (b). 16) This rule has served the state well and finds application not only in franchising but in other business enterprise contexts such as parent and subsidiary or sister corporations. (See, e.g. F. Hoffman-LaRoche, Inc. v. Superior Court (2005) 130 Cal.App.4th 782, 798 [subsidiary as agent of parent supports personal jurisdiction over parent].)

[&]quot;Unless required by or under the authority of law to employ that particular agent, a principal is responsible to third persons for the negligence of his agent in the transaction of the business of the agency, including wrongful acts committed by such agent in and as a part of the transaction of such business, and for his willful omission to fulfill the obligations of the principal."

[&]quot;In view of the common law theory of respondent superior and its codification in California Civil Code Section 2338, an employer or other covered entity shall be liable for the discriminatory actions of its supervisors, managers or agents committed within the scope of their employment or relationship with the covered entity...."

The Court of Appeal applied that rule as it has developed in the state's common law. (Opn. 3-4.) Domino's does not challenge the application of the rule to it on these facts. Rather, and without even acknowledging the rule's venerable place in California law, Domino's asks the Court to abandon it in favor a narrow rule that would allow Domino's to dominate its franchisees' day-to-day operations insulated from liability for the harm its nationwide enterprise causes unless it controls the specific instrumentality that causes the victim's harm.¹⁷ (OBM 26.)

The Court should adhere to the agency test that has served well in this context. No franchisor has a legitimate interest in exerting control over its franchisees' operations beyond that

¹⁷ Patterson suggests that the Court dismiss the petition for review as improvidently granted. Domino's never raised the issue of a new test in the trial court or in the Court of Appeal. In fact, in the Court of Appeal, Domino's asserted that the court should not look outside California but if it did so, should follow Rainey v. Langen (Me. 2010) 998 A.2d 342. The Maine high court expressly declined to adopt the instrumentality test, a point Domino's here concedes. (Compare RB 32-33 with OBM 28-29 fn. 11.) Patterson acknowledges that the Court has discretion to consider issues first raised on review where pure questions of law that have statewide importance are involved. (See, e.g., People v. Superior Court (Ghilotti) (2002) 27 Cal.4th 888, 901 fn. 5.) But in this case, unlike *Ghilotti* and other cases where the Court exercised its discretion to review a new issue, Domino's' issue is the only issue. Domino's Petition for Review offers no reason for its failure to raise this issue in the trial court or the Court of Appeal.

necessary to control its trademarks, products and the quality of its services. Domino's does not point to any California cases where the court imposed vicarious liability on a franchisor whose franchisee control was so limited.

The rationale for vicarious liability of business principals for the torts of their business agents is that the losses that occur in the course of a principal's enterprise caused by its agents are properly borne by the enterprise. (Hinman v. Westinghouse Elec. Co. (1970) 2 Cal.3d 956, 959–960.) Each individual franchiseeagent is part of the Domino's enterprise. This same rationale applies with even greater force for losses occasioned by sexual harassment or discrimination by agents and supervisors, as the Court of Appeal noted below. (Opn. 8-9 citing State Dept. of Health Services v. Superior Court (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1026, 1042 [strict liability for harassment by agent or supervisor].) Domino's offers no reason based on the rationale and public policy behind vicarious liability for the Court to fashion a special rule benefitting franchisors that further insulates them from liability for their enterprise-generated harm.

I. Vicarious liability of principals for the wrongs of their agents has been the law since statehood.

Over one hundred years ago, the Court said, "It is the general doctrine of the law, as it is our statutory rule, that a principal is liable to third parties not only for the negligence of its agent in the transaction of the business of the agency, but likewise for the frauds, torts or other wrongful acts committed by such agent in and as part of the transaction of such business." (Otis Elevator Co. v. First Nat. Bank of San Francisco (1912) 131 Cal. 31, 39 citing Civ. Code, § 2338.) Over the years, the rule has been applied in various contexts including franchising.

Domino's sees some developing "nuance" in the decisions but none exists. In Nichols v. Arthur Murray, Inc. (1967) 248 Cal.App.2d 610, a decision Domino's characterizes as an "early" one, the defendant franchisor made the same argument it makes here.

In the case at bench defendant depreciates the importance of the element of control, contending in a franchise agreement conferring the right to use a trade name controls are essential to the protection of the trade name; the controls provided by the instant agreement were for this purpose; the franchise holder was given some freedom of action; and, for these reasons, the court should have concluded the controls in question did not establish an agency relationship.

(248 Cal.App.2d at p. 613.)

To this argument, the court gave the same answer as did the Court of Appeal below—"the controls and rights to control retained by Arthur Murray, Inc. extended beyond those necessary to protect and maintain its trade mark, trade name and good will.

and covered day to day details of the San Diego studio's operation." (248 Cal.App.2d at pp. 613-614.) The franchisee was Arthur Murray, Inc.'s agent because it had reserved the right of control over the entire franchise operation.

Nichols, of course, found support for its holding in even earlier cases. For example, the court cited Malloy v. Fong (1951) 37 Cal.2d 356, where this Court applied the agency test to find that sufficient control existed as to establish an agency relationship between a supervising church body and a local church pastor, who in turn had appointed a tortfeasor sub-agent. The church body had vicarious liability. (248 Cal.App.2d at p. 614.) Malloy relied on cases earlier still. (Id.)

To similar effect is *Kuchta v. Allied Builders Corp.* (1971) 21 Cal.App.3d 541, another decision that Domino's characterizes as "early," and employing a "simple agency analysis." (OBM 22-23.) "In the field of franchise agreements, the question of whether the franchisee is an independent contractor or an agent is ordinarily one of fact, depending on whether the franchisor exercises complete or substantial control over the franchisee. (Citations.)" (21 Cal.App.3d at p. 547.)

Contrary to Domino's assertion, the more recent cases do not narrow the test. The test is still whether the franchisor retains complete or substantial control over the franchisee beyond that necessary to protect trade name, image and goodwill. In

Cislaw v. Southland Corp. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 1284, one of Domino's' "nuance" cases, a teenager died after smoking clove cigarettes sold at the franchisee's 7-11 store. (4 Cal.App.4th at p. 1287.) The court reviewed all the prior decisions including Nichols and Kutcha, and concluded, "[t]he cases, taken as a whole, impliedly recognize that the franchisor's interest in the reputation of its entire system allows it to exercise certain controls over the enterprise without running the risk of transforming its independent contractor franchisee into an agent." (Id. at p. 1292.)

Domino's reference to "the means and manner" of control language appearing in *Cislaw* (4 Cal.App.4th at p. 1288) comes from *Wickham v. Southland Corp.* (1985) 168 Cal.App.3d 49, 59. (OBM 23.) In *Wickham*, the court rejected plaintiffs' request for a jury instruction that would have made "right to control" the sole test of agency.

The right to control the result is inherent in both independent contractor relationships and principal-agency relationships; it is the right to control the means and manner in which the result is achieved that is significant in determining whether a principal-agency relationship exists. (168 Cal.App.3d at p. 59.)

The court found that the version of jury instruction—BAJI 13.20—then in effect which listed other factors to be considered in

determining the existence of an agency relationship was the correct statement of the law. (*Id.* at p. 58; see *Cislaw*, 4 Cal.App.4th at p. 1290-1291; see *Bowman v. Wyatt* (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 286, 303 [right of control alone is not dispositive].)

Whether one characterizes the test applied by the Court of Appeal below as simple or nuanced, it is a correct statement of the codified common law which has served well in California for over one hundred years in a variety of contexts. Domino's ultimately concedes this point. (OBM 26.) In general, as here, whether not a principal-agent relationship exists is a question of fact that cannot be resolved on summary judgment.

Vicarious liability in the agency context is based on public policy. (Otis Elevator Co., 131 Cal. at p. 39.) This policy allocates the risk of harm from an agent's torts to the principal. "[It] rather than the innocent injured plaintiff, should bear them; and because [it] is better able to absorb them, and to distribute them, through prices rates or liability insurance, to the public, and so to shift them to society, to the community at large." (Hinman, 2 Cal.3d at p. 960.) Domino's sets royalty rates, controls prices and imposes insurance requirements allowing it to distribute the cost of the harm its nationwide enterprise generates. (2 JA 405, 418, 419.) Its new rule runs directly counter to the policy underlying California vicarious liability principles.

II. The vicarious liability rules in Civil Code section 2338 are consistent with the public policy behind the FEHA and apply in these cases.

Patterson alleges three FEHA-based claims. (1 JA 7 [sexual harassment],9 [failure to prevent], 11 [retaliation].)
Missing from Domino's brief is any discussion of vicarious liability as it applies in FEHA cases. "Because the FEHA imposes this negligence standard only for harassment 'by an employee other than an agent or supervisor' ([Gov. Code],§ 12940, subd. (j)(1)), by implication the FEHA makes the employer strictly liable for harassment by a supervisor [and by an agent]. (Citations.) (State Dept. of Health Services, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1041.) The administrative regulations adopt the "common law theory of respondeat superior and its codification in California Civil Code Section 2338. . . ." (2 Admin. Code, § 7286.6.) Domino's does not dispute that the Court of Appeal correctly applied this test to it.

The agency approach to vicarious liability of franchisors finds support in the federal cases under Title VII. (42 U.S.C. § 2000e.) "There is also the 'agency' theory for determining when two employers are jointly liable under Title VII, under which the determination of whether one entity is an agent for another is determined based upon traditional rules of agency. (Miller v. D.F. Zee's, Inc. (D. Ore. 1998) 31 F.Supp.2d 792, 806.) The court pointed out that the Ninth Circuit has applied the agency test where appropriate. (Id.; See Yanowitz v. L'Oreal, Inc., 36 Cal.4th

at p. 1051 [although federal cases interpreting Title VII are not determinative as to FEHA, they are nonetheless persuasive when the two statutory schemes contain the same or similar language.].)

"[A]rticle I, section 8 [of the California Constitution] is declaratory of this state's fundamental public policy against sex discrimination, including sexual harassment, which, as noted, is merely one form of sex discrimination No extensive discussion is needed to establish the fundamental public interest in a workplace free from the pernicious influence of sexism. So long as it exists, we are all demeaned." (Rojo v. Kliger (1990) 52 Cal.3d 65, 90.) One of FEHA's goals is "eliminating sexual harassment from the workplace." (State Dept. of Health Services, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1048.) Domino's' call for a more restrictive vicarious liability test than that of agency as applied in the franchise cases flies in the face of this fundamental pubic policy.

III. Nothing in the Trademark Law or the Lanham Act warrants a relaxed standard of vicarious liability for franchisors.

Domino's points to California's Model State Trademark
Law and the Lanham Act as justification for its retained control
without liability. (Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 14200 et seq.; 15 U.S.C.,
ch 22; OBM 5.) The state act was adopted in 2007. (Stats.
2007, ch. 711.) Nothing in the act carves out an exception for

trademark holders for vicarious liability of their agents' torts. Similarly. nothing in the Franchise Investment Law that regulates dealings between franchisors and franchisees limits liability. (Corp. Code, §§ 31000 et seq.) These provisions were adopted in 1970. (Stats. 1970, ch. 1400.)

The Legislature is presumed to know existing statutes and laws when it enacts new ones. (*People v. Harrison* (1989) 48 Cal.3d 321, 329.) Had the Legislature intended to relax the principles of principal-agent vicarious liability codified in Civil Code section 2338 for franchisor-principals, it could have done so.

IV. The handful of jurisdictions that have adopted Domino's new rule have different principles of vicarious responsibility from California's.

Domino's call for a new rule is based upon cases from other jurisdictions that is says "overwhelmingly recognize an 'instrumentality test." But the law it cites as well as that which it does not cite fails to support its grand claims. The handful of out-of-state court decisions that have actually adopted Domino's test can be distinguished by the variations of those states' agency and vicarious responsibility law from that of California.

The poster child for Domino's' new rule is the Wisconsin decision *Kerl v. Dennis Ramussen*, *Inc.* (2004) 273 Wisc.2d 106. After leaving work without permission, an employee of the

defendant Arby's restaurant franchise shot and killed two people in the parking lot of a nearby K-Mart and then turned the gun on himself. (Id. at p. 111.) The plaintiff heirs sought to hold Arby's vicariously liable. In Wisconsin, a master-servant relationship is required to impose vicarious liability. (Id. at p. 112.) The court noted that such a relationship cannot be found simply by looking at the "operational standards included in the typical franchise agreement for the protection of the franchisor's trademark," just as California law requires. (Id.) Rather, "a franchisor may be held vicariously liable for the tortious conduct of its franchisee only if the franchisor has control or a right of control over the daily operation of the specific aspect of the franchisee's business that is alleged to have caused the harm." (Id. at p. 132.) The court determined that the "provisions in the license agreement are consistent with the quality and operational standards commonly contained in franchise agreements to achieve product and marketing uniformity and to protect the franchisor's trademark." (Id. at p. 133.) Such provisions as dealt with employees were "broad and general." (Id.) Thus the franchisee "clearly" was not Arby's servant. (Id. at p. 134.)

Wisconsin law varies in some significant respects from California. So far as *Kerl* reveals, its law of vicarious responsibility of a principal for the torts of its agents is not codified. Also Wisconsin only applies respondent superior liability in master-servant relationships which the court points out are a subset of principal-agency relationships. (273 Wisc.2d at

p. 118.) California's Civil Code section 2338 is not so limited. Finally, nothing in the *Kerl* opinion suggests that the court looked beyond the four corners of the franchise agreement. In California, "the provisions of franchise agreements are not necessarily controlling." (*Wickham*, 168 Cal.App.3d at p. 59.) Rather, courts use a "totality of the circumstances" approach. (*Kutcha*, 21 Cal.App.3d at p 547.) California law does not "exalt form over substance." (See e.g., *Perry v. Brown* (2011) 54 Cal.4th 1116, 1126.)

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